FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 22 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERN, SUPPLEME COURT Chief Deputy Clark

JAMES E. HUNTER, Appellant, CASE NUMBER 82,312 vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

> APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 23, 1992, the Appellant, James E. Hunter (a/k/a Psycho), was arrested for first degree murder. (R44-45)¹ On October 6, 1992, the Appellant and three co-defendants were indicted for one count of first degree murder, three counts of attempted first degree murder, one count of attempted armed robbery, and three counts of armed robbery. (R46-49)

On December 1, 1992, Appellant filed a motion for appointment of a confidential mental health expert, and Dr. Rotstein was appointed. (R315,316,320) On February 9, 1993, Appellant filed a motion for appointment of Expert for Mitigation purposes and Motion to determine procedure for appointment of defense experts. (R326-330) On March 2, 1993 an amended Motion for Determination of Defendant's Competence to Proceed was filed. (R350-51) On March 10, 1993 the trial court ordered a Mental Competency Examination of Appellant. On March 11, 1993 the

The symbol "R" will be used herein to refer to the record on appeal, excluding the trial transcript. The symbol "TR" will be used to refer to the trial transcript.

Appellant filed a confidential, non-adversarial and Ex-Parte in Camera Application for Appointment of Expert which was granted.

(R361,362) Numerous pre-trial motion challenging the validity of the Florida Capital trial and sentencing scheme were filed.

(R383-563)

On June 2, 1993 a competency hearing was held wherein after taking testimony and argument on counsel, the trial court found Appellant competent to proceed. (R56-177,586) A motion to continue the competency hearing to secure the presence of Dr. Ehrlich was denied. (R98) July 8, 1993, the State filed a notice of intent to introduce similar fact evidence. (R594-595) The State also filed a timely notice of intent to sentence Appellant as a habitual violent felony offender. (R484)

On June 22, 1993, Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress.

(R92-94) On July 9, 1993, a hearing was conducted on the Motion to Suppress. (R179-263) The Motion to Suppress was denied.

(R247,618) Appellant filed a Motion to Continue and renewed said and requested an evidentiary hearing on said motion. (R602-4;TR4-6) The Motion to Continue was denied has well as the request for an evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Continue. (R605;TR6-8)

The case proceeded to jury trial on August 2, 1993, and the trial concluded on August 6, 1993. (TR314-1200) During the voir dire of the initial panel, Appellant moved that Appellant's alias "Psycho" be stricken from the indictment. (TR51) Although the trial court agreed that the alias may be prejudicial, the trial court denied the request stating that the request was

untimely. (TR51) At trial, Appellant objected to the admission of physical evidence which was subject to his earlier Motion to Suppress. (TR650,734,759,825,873) Appellant also objected to the evidence of other crimes. (TR619) Just before the state rested its case it was discovered that photographs of the Appellant were taken the night of the shooting on two occasions. (TR894) Counsel for Appellant moved for a mistrial on the grounds that the photos were not provided by the state to the Appellant and the photos were exculpatory in that they depicted the appearance of the Appellant that differed from that given by the eyewitnesses immediately after the shooting. (TR894) After a Brady Hearing the trial court denied the motion for mistrial. (TR943)

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to the Count I charge of first degree murder; guilty of attempted second degree murder as to Count II; guilty of attempted first degree murder as to Count IV; and guilty of attempted first degree murder as to Count IV; and guilty of armed robbery as to Counts V, VI, VII and VIII. (R291-301) During the penalty phase proceeding, Appellant again filed a Motion for Determination of Defendant's Competence to Proceed based on the attorney's observations and the report of Dr. Rotstein. (R710-726) The Motion was summarily denied. (R1214) After a penalty phase proceeding, the jury recommended that Appellant be sentenced to death as to the Count I charge by a vote of nine to three. (R776) Following a sentencing hearing, Appellant was sentenced to death as to Count I, term of natural

life as a habitual violent felony offender as to Count II, a life term as to Counts III, IV, V, VI, VII and VIII with Counts II, III and IV running concurrent and Count V running consecutive to Count II and Count VI, VII and VIII running concurrent to Count V. (R826-842)

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed on August 31, 1993. (R862) This Appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 16, 1992, Tammie Cowan, Cathy Woodard,

James Hunter, Charles Anderson, Andre Smith and Eric Boyd

traveled from St. Augustine to DeLand, Florida. (TR667-671)

There were two black BB guns and one silver handgun in the
automobile. (TR671) In DeLand, the group tried to locate Andre

Smith's mother. (TR672) After completing their business in

DeLand, the group decided to proceed to Daytona Beach, Florida.

Immediately before leaving the DeLand area, at least part of the group confronted Reggie Barkley. (TR608-624,654-664) James Hunter robbed and/or assaulted Barkley with a firearm. (TR609,676-678) Shortly after the robbery/assault, a BOLO was transmitted throughout the Volusia County area. (TR625-626) The BOLO transmission alerted law enforcement officers to a grey four door sedan occupied by six to seven black individuals, two of whom were females. (TR625)

Tammie Cowan was the driver of the car. (TR632,669, 673) The group proceeded from DeLand to the Daytona Beach area. (TR676-679) Upon arriving in Daytona Beach, the group proceeded to the vicinity of Bethune Cookman College. (TR678-680,714-716, 747,783-785) Michael Howard, Taurus Cooley, Ted Troutman and Wayne Simpson were in the same area standing outside the "Munch Shop," on Second Avenue. (TR714-716,747,783-785) Howard, Cooley, Troutman and Simpson were observed by Cowan, Woodard, Hunter, Lewis, Anderson and Smith. (TR678,747-750,781-783)

James Hunter instructed Tammie Cowan to stop the

vehicle. (TR678) Hunter, Lewis, Anderson and Smith got out of the car and proceeded toward the four black males at the Munch Shop. (TR678-680,784) James Hunter was armed with a chrome handgun; Lewis and Anderson were armed with the BB guns. 680,784-785) Howard, Cooley, Troutman and Simpson had just started smoking a marijuana cigarette when they were approached by Appellant and his three companions. (TR714-716,738) Howard, Cooley, Troutman and Simpson were robbed at gunpoint and ordered to "give it up," by Appellant and his companions. (TR716) As the four victims were being robbed, they were ordered to lay face-down on the ground. (TR716-720,749-754,787) Suddenly, James Hunter pointed the firearm at Cooley and shot him. (TR721, 786-788) Hunter then shot the other three victims. (TR723-729, 755,788) The assailants then fled with the victims' clothing, jewelry, and other miscellaneous items of personal property. (TR788-790) The victims scattered, trying to find help. (TR729, 768-770)

Waiting in the automobile approximately three blocks from the scene of the robbery, Tammie Cowan could hear shots being fired. (TR680) When Eric Boyd and the others returned to the car, he stated that he took a pair of shoes and a beeper. (TR681) When James Hunter got back in the car, he instructed Cowan to drive off and stated that he had shot the victim because he had tried to run. (TR682) Cowan departed the area and proceeded north toward St. Augustine. (TR683-684)

While traveling North on Nova Road, in the city of

Ormond Beach, the automobile was observed by Deputy Richard Graves, at approximately 12:30 a.m. (TR624-626) Graves had recently heard the BOLO pertaining to the DeLand robbery/assault. (TR625) Graves noted that the automobile fit the general description given in the BOLO and that it was occupied by several black individuals. (TR627) Graves pulled in behind the automobile and began to verify information via his radio pertaining to the BOLO. (TR628-630) Graves had received the BOLO approximately ten minutes prior to observing the automobile. (TR628-630) Accordingly, he was concerned with the elapsed time of ten minutes not allowing the automobile to have traveled from the DeLand area to the Daytona Beach area. (TR628-629) Therefore, Graves continued to follow the vehicle and to radio for more precise information regarding the robbery/assault in DeLand. (TR629-630) Graves learned that the incident in DeLand occurred at approximately 11:44 p.m. on September 16, 1992. (TR629) Graves had originally observed the automobile at approximately 12:40 a.m. on September 17, 1992. (TR627) there was ample time for the automobile to have traveled from DeLand to Daytona. (TR629-630) Consequently, Graves initiated a traffic stop of the automobile. (TR631,693)

Upon stopping the automobile, Graves had Miss Cowan exit the vehicle and produce her drivers license and registration. (TR631-632) Miss Cowan was not able to produce a proper registration for the vehicle. (TR633) Graves was able to learn that Miss Cowan and the other individuals in the car had

been in the DeLand area earlier that night. (TR635) Graves radioed DeLand to have the victim brought to the location of the traffic stop to see if the victim could identify any of the individuals in the car. (TR640) When the victim arrived from DeLand, he identified several individuals from the car. (TR640, 659)

Ms. Cowan "consented" to a search of the automobile.

(R406-407) A search of the automobile yielded the two BB guns used in the robbery, and numerous articles of personal property belonging to the victims. (TR638-640,868-873)

EVIDENCE OF AGGRAVATION

The State called Troy Massey to the stand. (TR1249)
Mr. Massey testified that on May 3, 1992, he was assaulted by Mr.
Hunter outside a bar in Palatka. (TR1251-52) As a result of the
assault Mr. Massey suffered a broken nose, stitches on his face
and his lip busted up. (TR1253) Related to this incident, the
State introduced a felony conviction for aggravated battery.
(TR1246) The State also introduced a certified conviction in
Case Number 92-1236 for attempted armed robbery², and a
conviction for throwing a deadly missile into an occupied vehicle
(TR1246-47)

EVIDENCE OF MITIGATION

Dr. Ehrlich, a forensic psychiatrist, testified that he examined the Appellant on March 15 and July 23, 1993. (TR1273,

² The attempted armed robbery conviction was the attempted armed robbery which occurred in DeLand the evening of the murder in the instant case.

Based on those two examinations, Dr. Ehrlich concluded 1291) that the Appellant was suffering from bipolar disease manic type that was in remission during the second interview or, in the alternative, had been suffering from drug intoxication at the time of the first interview. (TR1291) Dr. Ehrlich further testified that if Appellant suffered from bipolar disease manic type, it would be the type of disease that would impair his ability to conform to the requirements of the law. (TR1297) Ehrlich further testified that he did not make a diagnosis of mental illness because there was no urine test done on Appellant to confirm or deny the use of drugs. (TR1299) Dr. Ehrlich was concerned about drug use despite the fact that at the time of the March 15th interview Appellant had been in jail for six months, specifically in an isolation cell at the jail, which would severely limit Appellant's ability to have access to drugs. (TR1311) Dr. Ehrlich also diagnosed Appellant as suffering from narcissistic personality disorder. (TR1305)

Dr. Rotstein, an expert in the field of psychiatry and neurology, testified. (TR1403) Dr. Rotstein performed mental examinations on the Appellant on January 20 and August 4, 1993. (TR1404) During the first interview Dr. Rotstein found Appellant to be confused and psychotic. (TR1404) Dr. Rotstein testified that Appellant's mother was an alcoholic when she was pregnant with Appellant and that showed signs of fetal alcohol syndrome. (TR1407) Appellant was abandoned by his mother when he was about three years old. Appellant's mother would knock Appellant in the

head, slam him around and say terrible things to him. (TR1411)
Appellant's natural mother had many men around and was beaten in
the presence of James and his sister. (TR1411) Dr. Rotstein
concluded that Appellant suffered of narcissistic personality
disorder. (TR1416)

Further testimony from family members revealed that when Appellant was about four years old, he was left alone in his house with his younger sister for three days. (TR1325) Appellant was found with feces on him and around his mouth. (TR1326) James and his sister were taken away and put in a child foster home. (TR1327) Thereafter, Appellant moved with his sister to the home of Mr. and Mrs. Hunter, which was a foster (TR1328) Ultimately, the Hunter's adopted Appellant and home. his sister. (TR1328) When Appellant was eight years old his adoptive mother, Mildred Hunter, passed away. After the death of Appellant's adoptive mother, Appellant's natural mother and natural grandmother both had sexual affairs with Appellant's adoptive father, Mr. Hunter. (TR1334)

When Appellant was fifteen he subsequently reunited with his mother. (TR1331) She gave James no motherly love. (TR1331) She would call him all kinds of bad names, bad treatment and take him to "Jukes" from early night to the next morning.

Appellant had a stepbrother named Stanley Hunter.

³ "Jukes" are country places out in the woods where they have beer and wine. At these places there would routinely be fights and arguments and gunfire.

(TR1538) Appellant's adoptive father would give disparate treatment to Appellant and his stepbrother. (TR1539) Appellant would get beat with a switch. Appellant's adoptive father would routinely whip Appellant's naked body in the shower with a switch. (TR1340) Beatings would be for things like not washing the dishes right or if he didn't come into the house when he was called in. In reaction to the severe beatings to Appellant, Appellant's sister, Kim Shivers, would bite herself and beat herself and threaten to kill herself. (TR1353) Appellant was forced to eat hot dogs, bread and watermelon until he would throw up. (TR1357) Appellant was made to eat cereal with ants in it. (TR1357)

When Appellant was twelve years old, he was hollering in the bathroom saying the devil was holding him in the bathroom and he wouldn't come out because the devil was holding him in there. (TR1344) In August 1992, Appellant was standing outside a bar known as Sticks and was shot in the back and reportedly a victim of a drive-by shooting. (TR1345)

STATE'S REBUTTAL

The State called Dr. Umesh Mahtra, a certified psychiatrist. (TR1578) Dr. Mahtra concluded that Appellant suffered from a personality disorder mixed with narcissistic and anti-social traits. (TR1586)

Investigator Ladwig testified that he interviewed Appellant shortly after the homicide and Appellant made

⁴ A "switch" is a branch from a plum tree. (TR1339)

contradictory statements about what occurred that evening. (TR1605-10)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point I: The trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion for mistrial based on the failure of the state to disclose photographs of the appellant taken immediately after the shooting that were exculpatory, in violation of the right to due process of law as guaranteed by the fifth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution and Articlw I, sections 10 and 16 of the Florida Constitution.

Point II: The court committed a palpable abuse of discretion wheren it denied appellant's motion to continue where the state provided a supplemental witness list with 19 witnesses, 204 pages of discovery material, and where the state had of yet provided no discovery on an eyewitness co-defendant turned state witness on the eve of trial.

Point III: The trial court erred where it found appellant competent to stand trial where the balance of evidence supported the finding that the appellant was not competent to stand trial.

Point IV: The trial court erred by not appointing mental health experts and conducting a compentency hearing where counsel for appellant made proper motion for a determination of appellant's competentency on a reasonable factual basis that appellant was not competent to stand trial.

<u>Point V</u>: The trial court erred by instructing the jury during the penalty phase that they weigh the Cold, Calculated and Premeditated (CCP) aggravating circumstance in making their

penalty recomendation where the CCP aggravating circumstance did not apply to this case as a matter of law.

Point VI: The trial court erred by finding that a death sentence is the appropriate penalty in this case. The death penalty is a disproportionate penalty in this case and can perhaps best be described as a simple robbery "gone bad." It is a textbook felony murder. Two aggravating circumstances exist and they are not particularly compelling when weighed against the mitigating circumstances, <u>i.e.</u>, James Hunter suffered from a deprived childhood and suffered from a personality disorder that manifested in that "he is not the type of person that can function lawfully within the constraints of our society."

Point VII: The appellant was denied due process of law and fair trial where a state expert improperly gave his opinion on the appellant's crediabilty, i.e., calling James Hunter a liar.

Point VIII: The trial court allowed state witnesses to testify about the details of a collateral crime. The collateral crime was not relevant to prove any material issue at trial; the undue, prejudicial affect of the collateral crime evidence outweighed any probative value of the evidence; the collateral crime evidence became a feature of the instant case.

Point IX: The physical evidence obtained from the search of the vehicle and offered and entered into evidence against Appellant should have been suppressed because the stop of the vehicle was based upon a vague BOLO which failed to establish

a reasonable suspicion that the occupants of the vehicle had committed a crime.

Point X: The trial court erred by inhibiting defense counsel's right to backstrike once the entire panel is formed by threatening to "personally take sanctions against defense counsel" if counsel exercised a second backstrike.

Point XI: The trial court erred by permitting the introduction that the appellant pointed a gun at one of the codefendants after the shooting where the evidence was culmalative to issues a trial and rather showed propensity of the appellant to commit crimes or bad acts.

Point XII: The trial court erred by the limiting cross examination of a state witness where the general area of the being subject to the cross examination was introduced by the state in direct examination.

<u>Point XIII</u>: The trial court erred by not conducting a full <u>Richardson</u> hearing after defense counsel alleged a discovery violation by the state during the penalty phase.

<u>Point XIV</u>: Florida Statute Section 921.141 is unconstitutional.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON THE FAILURE OF THE STATE TO DISCLOSE TO THE DEFENDANT EVIDENCE WHICH TENDED TO EXCULPATE HIM, IN VIOLATION OF THE RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AS GUARANTEED BY THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 10 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Prior to trial, the defendant filed a demand for discovery, requesting inter alia, "any material within the state's possession or control which tends to negate the guilt of the accused as to the offense charged." (R324) The defendant also made Motion for Production of Favorable Evidence, which the trial court denied. (R576) After the testimony of Detective Flynt, it was discovered that two sets of pictures were taken of defendant depicting his clothing and appearance the night of the homicide. (TR929,935) The first photo was taken by Detective Graves when he stopped the vehicle defendant was traveling in minutes after the shooting, and second photo was taken by Investigator McLean after defendant was placed in police custody. (TR929,935) The second picture of defendant shows that he wore biege shorts and a white Florida Gators T-Shirt when he was arrested immediately after the shooting. (See State Exhibits AA, BB, CC, DD) State witnesses described the shooter as wearing a red hat, red shirt and blue jean shorts. (R739,828) The failure of the State to provide the pictures taken of the defendant the night of the shooting was undisclosed material evidence, and the

1000

case must be reversed for a new trial.

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