FILED

SID J WHITE

JUL 27 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chilef Deputy Clerk

JAMES EUGENE HUNTER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 82,312

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

POINT VII

HUNTER IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS CLAIM THAT THE STATE'S EXPERT TESTIFIED ABOUT HUNTER'S CREDIBILITY.

On pp. 45-47 of his brief, Hunter argues that he is entitled to a new penalty phase proceeding because the State's mental health expert testified that Hunter is an "absolute liar". (TR 1585). That claim is without merit.

Hunter objected to that testimony, and the trial court immediately sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard that statement. (TR 1586). Of course, juries are presumed to follow their instructions, and, in this case, the prompt and unequivocal curative instruction was sufficient to obviate any error. Gorby v. State, 630 So. 2d at 547. Hunter received all he was entitled to receive, and, had he thought the curative instruction inadequate, should have requested an expanded instruction.

None of the cases cited in Hunter's brief are controlling because none of those cases stand for the proposition that a prompt instruction that the jury is to disregard a statement is not sufficient to remove any error. See, e.g., Gorby v. State, 630 So. 2d at 544. Hunter is not entitled to relief. See, e.g., Sochor v. Florida, 112 S. Ct. 2114, 2122 (1992).

POINT VIII

THE WILLIAMS RULE CLAIM.

On pp. 48-53 of his brief, Hunter argues that the State improperly presented evidence of the armed robbery he had committed earlier in the evening in DeLand. This claim is without merit.

The evidence about which Hunter complains came in during the testimony of Reggie Barkley, who was the victim of a robbery perpetrated by Hunter (and his co-defendants) the evening prior to this murder. 4 Under any reasonable interpretation of the evidence, the DeLand robbery was clearly relevant and admissible because that offense gave rise to the BOLO leading to the identification of the defendant as the perpetrator of this (TR 625-627). Law enforcement came in contact with Hunter solely as a result of that BOLO, not because of anything to do with the murder of Wayne Simpson. (E.g., TR 618). But for the robbery in DeLand, and the BOLO issued as a result, there would have been no reason for Hunter to have been stopped by law enforcement. It makes little sense to suggest that this evidence is not inextricably intertwined with the offense in this case. That evidence is necessary to demonstrate the context in which the murder took place, and was properly admitted. See, e.g., Fotopolous v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 790 (Fla. 1992); Medina v. State, 466 So. 2d 1046, 1048-1049 (Fla. 1985); Heiney v. State, 447 So. 2d 210, 213-214 (Fla. 1984). The DeLand robbery was

⁴ The DeLand robbery occurred on the night of September 16, 1992. Wayne Simpson was murdered by Hunter late on September 16 or early on September 17, 1992.

clearly relevant, and Hunter should not be heard to complain that the jury was informed of the context of the murder. This claim is without merit. See also, Smith v. State, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S312 (Fla. June 6, 1994).

POINT IX

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED HUNTER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

Hunter argues that the trial court erroneously denied his motion to suppress evidence. When the facts are objectively considered, there is no doubt that the trial court's ruling was correct.

Shortly after midnight on September 17, 1992, Volusia County Sheriff's Deputy Richard Graves received a BOLO from the DeLand Police Department which described the suspects in a robbery from that jurisdiction. (TR 191-192). That BOLO described the suspect vehicle as a gray four-door mid-sized vehicle occupied by two black females and three or four black males. (TR 192; 194). The driver and front seat passenger were described as black females. (TR 194). The DeLand robbery took place at approximately 11:49 p.m. (TR 195), and Deputy Graves first observed the vehicle on Nova Road in Ormond Beach about 50 minutes later. (TR 191; 195). Sufficient time had passed between the DeLand robbery and the time the vehicle was spotted in Ormond Beach to have traveled to Ormond from DeLand. (TR 195). Deputy Graves requested a backup unit and stopped the vehicle on Nova Road near State Road 40. (TR 198). The black female passenger matched the BOLO description, as did the clothing worn by the subjects. (TR 200-201).

The foregoing facts clearly support the validity of the traffic stop. Under the circumstances, and taking into account all of the facts known to Deputy Graves, it is clear that the

deputy stopped the car in which Hunter was riding based upon a well-founded and reasonable suspicion. United States v. Hensley, 469 U.S. 221 (1985); Carroll v. State, 19 Fla. Law Weekly S187 (Fla. Apr. 14, 1994). Of course, there is no question that the BOLO was issued by the DeLand Police Department and that that agency had a reasonable suspicion based on articulable facts that the described vehicle and its occupants had been involved in the commission of a crime. See, United States v. Hensley, 469 U.S. at 232-233. An officer from the DeLand Police Department would certainly have been allowed to stop the vehicle based on that BOLO for purposes of further investigation, and, consequently, the stop by the Volusia County Sheriff's Office was permissible. Id. The Volusia County Sheriff's Office clearly executed the stop in objective reliance on the DeLand BOLO, and the stop was no more intrusive than what the DeLand Police Department would have been permitted to conduct. Hunter's claim has no basis in the Fourth Amendment and he is not entitled to relief.

To the extent that Hunter complains about the search of the vehicle, that claim is without merit for three reasons. First, the search was conducted pursuant to valid written and oral consent to search. United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980); Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973); Tukes v. Dugger, 911 F. 2d 508, 517-518 (11th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 273 (1991). Second, the search falls squarely within the Carroll exception to the warrant requirement. Carroll v. U.S., 267 U.S. 132 (1925). There is no doubt that there was probable cause to believe that the vehicle contained evidence of

Criminal activity, and, consequently, the search was proper.

E.g., TR 635 (weapons); Arkansas v. Sanders, 442 U.S. 753, 760 (1979); Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42, 44, 52 (1970). See also, Florida v. Meyers, 466 U.S. 380 (1984); Chambers v. Maroney, supra, at 52. Third, the defendant never raised the issue of consent at trial and has waived that claim. Rutherford v. State, 545 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1989).

There is nothing to support Hunter's claim that the driver of the vehicle consented to the search based upon acquiescence to authority, and there is no defect with the search itself. Likewise, there is no defect with the initial stop of the vehicle. This claim is without merit.

POINT X

HUNTER WAS NOT PROHIBITED FROM BACKSTRIKING A PROSPECTIVE JUROR.

On pp. 59-64 of his brief, Hunter argues that he was prevented from backstriking a prospective juror. This claim is not preserved for review and, alternatively, is without merit.

In <u>Rivers v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1984), this Court held that, in the absence of an attempt to backstrike, any claim of error is not preserved for review. While Hunter attempts to distinguish <u>Rivers</u>, that effort is not successful. A review of the portion of jury selection subsequent to that set out in Hunter's brief indicates that Hunter exercised his last two peremptory strikes, and then requested and was given one additional peremptory which he exercised. (TR 566-567). At no time did Hunter attempt to backstrike any juror subsequent to the Court's ruling, and, consequently, has failed to preserve the issue for review. See, e.g., Rivers, supra.

Alternatively and secondarily, this claim lacks merit. Hunter exercised all of his peremptory challenges and received one additional challenge, which he also used. (E.g., TR 568). Subsequently, four peremptories were exercised by the codefendant and one peremptory was exercised by the State. (TR 568-569). Under any view of the facts, Hunter would not have been able to exercise his last strike against the entire panel because he had used all of his peremptories well before the "entire panel" was seated. If Hunter still had a peremptory left when the panel was seated, and had not been allowed to use that

peremptory, perhaps he would have a basis for complaint. However, Hunter should not be heard to complain because he was not frugal enough with his peremptory challenges. He had used them all well before the panel was seated, and has no basis for complaint. To the extent that Hunter claims that he was somehow forced to expend his peremptory strikes, that claim is meritless. The trial court had granted one additional peremptory, even though there would have been no basis for reversal had that request been denied. As the Eleventh Circuit has noted in another context, "no good deed goes unpunished," and that adage is particularly appropriate here. See, e.q., Bonfiglio v. Nugent, 986 F. 2d 1391, 1392 (11th Cir. 1993). The trial court gave Hunter more than was required, yet he still complains. Regardless of Hunter's argument to the contrary, his claim collapses into no more than a claim that he should have been given a second additional peremptory challenge. Hunter has shown no abuse of discretion, and is not entitled to relief. 5

⁵ To the extent that Hunter claims that he asked the Court for an additional peremptory to strike juror Eskridge, that claim is rebutted by the record. Hunter's counsel stated that he probably would have struck Eskridge well after his request for an additional peremptory had been denied. (TR 569-570).

POINT XI

THE STATE DID NOT INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF A COLLATERAL CRIME.

On pp. 65-67 of his brief, Hunter argues that evidence of other crimes was introduced during direct examination of Tammy Cowan. This claim does not entitle Hunter to relief for two independently adequate reasons.

First, it is doubtful that the "other crime evidence," as it was before the jury, was in fact evidence of another crime. As the trial court pointed out, the evidence about which Hunter complains falls far short of establishing the elements of some other offense. (TR 692).

The second reason that this evidence was properly admitted is because that evidence was relevant to establish that Hunter had possession of the murder weapon after the shootings, and to establish the context of the criminal transaction. See, Randolph v. State, 463 So. 2d 186, 189 (Fla. 1984); see also, State v. Richardson, 621 So. 2d 752, 756-757 (Fla., 5th DCA 1993). Even if this evidence establishes another crime, it was admissible because it tended to establish the fact of possession (and disposal) of the murder weapon by Hunter. That purpose is proper, and Hunter is not entitled to relief. In any event, the evidence did not become a feature of the trial, and there is no basis for relief.

POINT XII

HUNTER'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF A STATE WITNESS WAS NOT IMPROPERLY RESTRICTED.

On pp. 68-71 of his brief, Hunter argues that his cross-examination of a State's witness was improperly restricted. A fair reading of the record demonstrates that this claim is meritless.

On direct examination, Detective Flynt testified as a chain-of-custody witness about various items of the victims' property. (TR 876-884). During cross-examination, Hunter inquired into unrelated matters, and, when the State objected, that objection was sustained. (TR 886). Florida law is settled that cross-examination "is limited to the subject matter of the direct examination and matters affecting the credibility of the witness." F.S. §90.612(2). The witness testified only about chain of custody matters, and the testimony Hunter sought to elicit was far outside the scope of direct examination. Of course, Hunter could have called this witness in his case-inchief, but did not. He should not be heard to complain.

None of the cases relied upon by Hunter compels a different result. The quotation from <u>Coxwell v. State</u> is not authority for Hunter's position because cross-examination was not improperly restricted. <u>Coxwell v. State</u>, 361 So. 2d 148, 151 (Fla. 1978). Likewise, <u>Johnson v. State</u> is distinguishable on its facts. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 132, 133 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The testimony which was disallowed in <u>Johnson</u> dealt not only with the direct testimony of the witness, but also with credibility matters. Id. That is not the present situation.

The questions put by Hunter's lawyer did not even arguably concern the credibility of the witness, and were not calculated to develop information that modified, supplemented, contradicted, rebutted or clarified the witness' direct testimony. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 595 So. 2d at 135. There was no error, and Hunter is not entitled to relief.

POINT XIII

HUNTER'S CLAIM OF A RICHARDSON VIOLATION IS REBUTTED BY THE RECORD.

On pp. 72-74 of his brief, Hunter argues that a <u>Richardson</u> violation occurred as to the State rebuttal witness Dr. Umesh Mhatre⁶. When the facts upon which this claim is based are considered objectively, it is clear that no violation took place. Moreover, while there was no discovery violation, the trial court conducted an adequate inquiry into the claimed nondisclosure.

After hearing the arguments of counsel and taking the testimony of Dr. Mhatre, the trial court found that there had been no non-disclosure, and that Hunter's attorney had the information and had created any problem himself. (TR 1576). facts supporting this finding are that Hunter's attorney had the document upon which this claim is based at least two months previously, and had only provided that document to the State pursuant to court order after jury selection began. (TR 1574). Dr. Mhatre had no indication that he had seen Hunter before until he found that document in the records obtained from Hunter. 1573). Dr. Mhatre had no recollection of Hunter at all, and any prior contact with Hunter played no part whatever in his opinions about the defendant. (TR 1573). Dr. Mhatre did not know, nor did he ever state, what previous diagnosis Hunter had been given. (TR 1575). Hunter stated that he had no memory of Dr. Mhatre. (TR 1442; 1576). Hunter has not established any non-disclosure

The state is using the correct spelling of Dr. Mhatre's name even though the record uses the spelling "Mhatra".

on the part of the State. Instead, the record demonstrates a pattern of obfuscation by Hunter; that is no basis for complaint.

Assuming arguendo that a non-disclosure did occur, it was, at most, trivial, given that Dr. Mhatre had no memory of treating Hunter, and did not base any part of his opinion on any prior treatment. (TR 1576). Likewise, any non-disclosure by the State was clearly inadvertent because the State could not, under any stretch of the imagination, develop the information until the defendant provided the State with the records containing the information. Id. Finally, Hunter cannot demonstrate any prejudice affecting his trial preparation because Dr. Mhatre had no recollection of prior treatment of the defendant. (TR 1576-The trial court clearly conducted a Richardson inquiry and resolved the issue against Hunter. See, e.g., Brazell v. State, 570 So. 2d 919, 921 (Fla. 1990). Hunter was not entitled to a Richardson hearing, but received one anyway. The record conclusively rebuts his claim and he is not entitled to relief.

POINT XIV

SECTION 921.141 IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

On pp. 75-90 of his brief, Hunter raises a number of boiler-plate challenges to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute. To the extent that Hunter challenges the heinous, atrocious and cruel and the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstances, those aggravators are not present in this case. To the extent that Hunter raises a Caldwell claim, that claim is not preserved for review. Rutherford v. State, 545 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1989).

To the extent that Hunter raises claims concerning counsel (p. 77-78), the trial judge (p. 78), the Florida Judicial System (p. 78-82), "procedural technicalities" (p. 84-86), and "other problems with the statute" (p. 86-90), those claims are barred because they were not raised by timely objection. See, e.g., Rutherford v. State, supra.

To the extent that Hunter raises a claim concerning the Tedder rule and the hindering governmental function aggravating circumstance, those claims are not present in this case. To the extent that Hunter challenges this Court's review, that claim is meritless. In summary, this claim is substantially identical to claim 12 in Marquard v. State, Slip Op. No. 81,341 (June 9, 1994), and this claim does not provide a basis for relief for the same reasons.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, appellee respectfully requests this court affirm the judgment and sentence of the trial court in all respects.